STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

 ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Lexington County
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 14 2018

WILLIAM BRUCE JUSTICE,

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001718

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the PCR court err by denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was denied the minimum level of due process, including his right of confrontation and cross-examination of witnesses at two parole revocation hearings in contravention of the longstanding United States Supreme Court decision Morrissey v. Brewer which guarantees parolees such a right, and where there was no testimony presented from the State's only witness, Petitioner's parole agent, that either the administrative hearing officer or the parole board made a specific finding that any of the witnesses would be subjected to harm or that good cause existed for not allowing confrontation?

II. Did the PCR court err by denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was likewise denied his right of disclosure of evidence against him, his right of an opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence, and his right of a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied on and reasons for revoking parole which are likewise constitutionally protected, and where Petitioner also received disparate treatment based upon his *pro se* nature?

III. Whether South Carolina's statute outlawing the right to confront witnesses at a parole revocation hearing fails to meet the minimum requirements of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and as a result is flagrantly unconstitutional?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted in February 1989 for four counts of burglary second, two counts of grand larceny, and two counts of petit larceny. He was represented by Frederick I Hall, III. On June 28, 1989, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. He was sentenced to sixty years' imprisonment on the burglary charges, twenty years on the grand larceny charges, and one month on each of the petit larceny charge by the Honorable Marion H. Kinon. The burglary sentences were ordered to run consecutive to one another, and the remaining sentences ran concurrently.

Petitioner's convictions and sentence were affirmed by this Court following appellate representation by Franklin W. Draper. State v. William Bruce Justice, 91-MO-200 (S.C. Sup. Ct, filed July 16, 1991).

Petitioner also filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court, District of South Carolina on May 15, 1989. Justice v. Bost, et al., 3:89-1232-OJ. The Honorable Matthew J. Perry, Jr. filed an Order on January 1990 granting the Respondent's motion for summary judgment thereby dismissing Petitioner's 1989 Petition without prejudice based upon Petitioner's failure to exhaust his remedies in state court.

Soon thereafter, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on or about August 18, 1992. The State made its Return on or about October 8, 1992. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Daniel E. Martin, Sr. on June 7, 1995. Petitioner was represented by John R. Rakowsky, and Allen Bullard represented the State. Judge Martin denied relief by way of written order on July 19, 1995.

Lesley M. Coggiola filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari following the denial of Petitioner's 1992 PCR. This Court denied certiorari on June 19, 1996.

Petitioner then filed a second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District, District of South Carolina on July 10, 2003. On February 4, 2004, Senior United States District Judge Matthew J. Perry, Jr. issued an Order approving the Report and Recommendation of United States Magistrate Judge Robert S. Carr and thereby dismissing Petitioner's action.

On or about May 2, 2012, Petitioner was granted parole by the South Carolina Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services. Parole was to take effect from May 3, 2012 until March 6, 2032. A warrant was issued for Petitioner's arrest on August 7, 2013 following allegations that Petitioner violated four conditions of his parole.

On August 27, 2013, a hearing took place at the Kershaw County Detention Center. Petitioner represented himself. Also present at the hearing were the Administrative Officer, Petitioner's parole agent, and two witnesses. Petitioner was found to have violated four conditions of his parole, and his parole was revoked. He was ordered to serve the remainder of his sentence.

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on February 26, 2014. App. 251 – 265. It contained allegations that Petitioner's parole was revoked unlawfully, including the following claim:

Petitioner was denied the right to confront and question witnesses testifying against him that is guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the South Carolina Constitution and the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (see forms stock #36, #1122, and #1124, therefore Due Process was violated[]).

App. 258.

The State made its Return on or about May 27, 2015 App. 266 – 274. A hearing on the State's motion to dismiss was held before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on April 21, 2016.

App. 275. Anna R. Good represented Petitioner, and Caitlin Hastings appeared on behalf of the State. The PCR court denied the State's motion. App. 291 ll. 4 – 18.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. on February 1, 2017. App. 298. Anna Good again represented Petitioner, and Johanna Valenzuela appeared on behalf of the State. The court heard testimony from Petitioner and Nikita Cook, Petitioner's parole agent and an employee for the South Carolina Department of Probation, Pardon and Parole.

An Order of Dismissal was filed on August 2, 2017. App. 350. The PCR court found that Petitioner's due process rights were not violated. App. 360 – 361.

This Petition follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner concisely stated the following facts which support the above contention that his parole was revoked unlawfully:

[On] August 27, 2013, Petitioner was denied his right to confront and question the adverse witnesses testifying against him at his preliminary hearing when the hearing officer left the room and took testimony from the adverse witnesses outside the presence of the Petitioner. (Orally taped by the hearing officer and witnessed by Ms. Cook, his parole agent. (On record)[)].

[On] October 16, 2013, Petitioner was against denied his right to confront and question the adverse witness at his Revocation Hearing by the Parole Board itself, cutting the Petitioner off when he tried to question the witness ... who was sitting right next to him. (Video Taped by the Parole Board and witnessed by Ms. Cook, his parole agent). (On record).

App. 258 – 259.

Included in Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief were the forms he listed, #26, #1122, and #1124. App. 260 – 262. As will be discussed below, each of these forms indicate that Petitioner had a right to confront and question any person who appeared as a witness against him.

As articulated by PCR counsel in anticipation of a motion to dismiss by the State, Petitioner's matter was correctly brought under the PCR statute:

To start off with, the stated statute, South Carolina Code Section 17-27-20(a), a person who has been convicted of or sentenced for a crime can file a PCR ... if his parole or conditional release is unlawfully revoked. It is our position ... that it was unlawfully revoked in the sense of a due process claim."

App. 281 ll. 16 – 23. In particular, counsel argued that testimony was taken from witnesses who Petitioner was neither able to hear nor cross-examine. App. 281 l. 23 – App. 282 l. 2. Additionally, Petitioner asked for but never received copies of the incident reports related to his arrest which set in motion the revocation proceedings. App. 282 ll. 3 – 17.

The State then argued that Petitioner's claims were "inappropriate for a PCR review." App. 283 l. 5- 284 l. 1. Citing S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-680, the State averred that decisions by the Parole Board cannot be appealed. Id.

In response, PCR counsel argued that Petitioner's parole was unlawfully revoked and that the claim was therefore properly brought under the PCR statute:

The argument is that he was unlawfully revoked and that he did not have the opportunity under [the due process claim] to cross-examine or see any of the evidence against him or to hear the evidence that was - - the opportunity to counter that against the Parole Board and in the initial preliminary hearing at the Kershaw jail, because I believe that they were also present there, Your Honor.

App. 285 ll. 12 – 23.

During this hearing, the PCR court heard from counsel for Respondent which provided the due process requirements under Morrisey v. Brewer 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972):

[I]n regards to the Applicant's argument of not being able to confront the witnesses, the United States Supreme Court case of Morrisey v. Brewer lays out the minimal requirements of due process for a parole revocation hearing and talks about how parole revocation hearings and administrative hearings are criminal hearings. Therefore the applicant is entitled to less procedural protections, in that the hearings are not meant to be flexible and lays out specifically what the minimal requirements are.

Those requirements are written notes of the claimed violations of parole; disclosure to the parolee of evidence against him; an opportunity to be heard in person, and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; the right to confront and examine witnesses unless the hearing officer **specifically** finds good cause for not allowing confrontation; a mutual and detached hearing body, such as a traditional parole board; and a written statement by the fact finders as to the evidence relied and the reasons for revoking parole.

In this case, the State finds that the hearing officer had more than good cause to disallow the confrontation of the two adverse witnesses.

App. 286 l. 11 – App. 287 l. 19. (emphasis added).

The PCR court inquired to counsel for the State whether such a specific finding was made:

Court: Did the judge make that finding?

Counsel: (No verbal response).

Court: Doesn't it require the judge, the actual parole officer, to make that finding?

Counsel: (No verbal response).

Court: What does it say?

Counsel: Uh, - - -

...

Court: And I don't think that there is an Order- - is there an Order in my packet that makes - - is there an Order from the Parole Board?

App. 287 l. 20 – App. 289 l. 19. Respondent admitted that such a finding could not be located in the parole hearing Order or the administrative hearing summary. App. 289 l. 20 – App. 290 l. 7.

Following additional discussion, the PCR court denied the State's motion to dismiss:

I think on the second ground - - I mean ... it sounds like they have a right to confront witnesses unless - - according to what you read to me - - there are specific findings saying that would not be appropriate.

In my review of that Order, the judge addresses that there are issues back and forth between the people but there's not a specific finding that that wouldn't be appropriate. So - - unless you have something else, I think this needs to proceed forward and actually have - - I believe it is the Court's position that your Motion should be denied.

App. 291 ll. 4 – 18.

Following the denial of the State's motion to dismiss, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. on February 1, 2017. App. 298. Anna Good again

represented Petitioner, and Johanna Valenzuela appeared on behalf of the State. The court heard testimony from Petitioner and Nikita Cook, Petitioner's parole agent and an employee for the South Carolina Department of Probation, Pardon and Parole. Two exhibits were entered into evidence, a violation report and a script utilized by Cook. App. 347 – 349.

Testimony of Petitioner

Petitioner was arrested for alleged parole violations in August 2013. App. 301 ll. 11 – 13. He had previously made parole on May 3, 2012. App. 301 ll. 14 – 15. He indicated that one of the alleged parole violations involved contact with his prior employer. App. 301 l. 19 – App. 302 l. 21. The other two parole conditions which he recalled the State claiming that he violated were a payment arrearage and drinking to excess. Id.

Petitioner advised the PCR court that his first parole revocation preliminary hearing was attempted but then rescheduled due to technical difficulties with the telephones. App. 302 l. 23 – App. 303 l. 12. The second preliminary hearing was held in a conference room at the Kershaw County Jail. App. 303 ll. 13 – 14. In the room with Petitioner were the parole examiner and Petitioner's parole officer, Cook. App. 303 ll. 16 – 20. Two witnesses against Petitioner, his former employer Ms. Cotton and her husband, were present but not in the conference room. App. 304 ll. 2 – 6.

Petitioner recalled Cook read allegations against him from a piece of paper without much specificity. App. 303 l. 21 – App. 304 l. 1. Because Cotton neither spoke nor testified under oath in Petitioner's presence, he was unaware at the time of the evidentiary hearing what was said. App. 304 ll. 7 – 14. As a result, Petitioner was unable to respond to any allegations made by either witness. Id.

Petitioner wanted to utilize his right of confrontation regarding Cotton, because she “made a bunch of false accusations” against him. App. 305 ll. 2 – 18. Petitioner notified the PCR court that Cotton had applications on her phone which could spoof caller ID’s and text messages. Id. However, he was never allowed to cross-examine or even confront Cotton.

Petitioner requested an attorney on more than one occasion. App. 304 ll. 15 – 19. He was never provided one, because “[t]he parole office doesn’t ... appoint lawyers.” App. 304 l. 20 – App. 305 l. 1.

Following the hearing in August 2013 at the Kershaw County Jail, Petitioner attended a second hearing before two members of the Parole Board at Lee Correctional in October 2013. App. 305 ll. 19 – 25.

At this hearing, Cook made a presentation via a video camera to the partial board which appeared on a screen. App. 306 ll. 1 – 12. Petitioner was asked whether he had hit someone; when he answered in the negative, the board cut him off and turned off the camera. Id. Once more, Petitioner was denied his right to confront either Cook or Cotton regarding the allegations leveled against him. App. 306 l. 9 – 25. He was unaware whether Cotton or her daughter-in-law, both who attended the hearing, spoke to the parole board. Id. He was denied the opportunity to confront either at the hearing in October. App. 306 l. 21 – App. 307 l. 3.

Petitioner requested counsel at this hearing as well:

I asked a gentleman that was sitting out there with us that rode down with us, I don’t know his name, he was sitting with me and Ms. Cook. I said, “How do I go about getting a lawyer so I can prove some of this stuff is false?” He said it’s too late for that.

App. 307 ll. 4 – 11.

Regarding the alleged drinking violation, Petitioner presented a medical defense at the PCR hearing. App. 308 ll. 10 – 22. With respect to the claim that he contacted his former

employer, Petitioner explained that a responsive text message was the ground upon which the State attempted to revoke his parole: “I left my truck at her house and she text[ed] me and said your truck’s on the way and I text[ed] her back. I said okay.” App. 310 ll. 13 – 23.

Testimony of Nikita Cook

After Petitioner’s testimony concluded, Cook took the stand. App. 318. She described Petitioner as a “model citizen” during the beginning of his parole. App. 320 ll. 18 – 24. “He was clean cut. Just how he is today. He was very polite and he was on the right path. He was working. And like he said, he came in every month. He paid his fees.” *Id.*

However, Cook testified that she soon thereafter imposed a condition that Petitioner was not supposed to contact Cotton or her family. App. 321 ll. 13 – 16. Regarding the parole revocation hearings, Cook was unable to recall whether more than one hearing took place. App. 322 ll. 5 – 18. Cook averred that she presented a statement and a cell phone printout at one of the hearings. App. 322 l. 24 – App. 323 l. 4; App. 323 l. 23 – App. 1. However, when asked whether Petitioner was provided that evidence, Cook testified that Petitioner was shown none of it: “probably not because usually they go out and hire an attorney and you give all that information to the attorney.” App. 323 l. 5 – 9.

However, even the attorneys at parole hearings are traditionally limited in their advocacy, according to Cook: “[i]n my most recent experience ... where the offender actually had an attorney, the attorney was not allowed to say a whole lot.” App. 327 ll. 7 – 14. Cook admitted that Petitioner was not allowed “to say a whole lot” to the members of the parole board. App. 326 l. 13 – 23. The State concluded that Petitioner was therefore treated “similarly to any other person whether represented or not by the parole board.” App. 327 ll. 15 – 18.

Cook admitted on cross-examination that she has never seen a parole examiner make a determination that extraordinary circumstances exist such that an individual would be appointed an attorney. App. 332 ll. 20 – 23. Furthermore, there was not a determination, one way or the other, at the initial hearing regarding extraordinary circumstances. App. 332 l. 24 – App. 333 l. 1.

Although Cook was unable to recall at first, the hearing officer's report refreshed her memory and she recalled that Cotton and her husband were at the preliminary administrative hearing. App. 333 ll. 2 – 25. Cook admitted that neither witness was in the same room as Petitioner. Id. Cook testified that "if [the witnesses] were present, they may have" spoken to the administrative hearing officer, Mr. Rivers. App. 334 ll. 1 – 11. However, Petitioner would not have been present for that, according to "the jail's rules." Id.

According to the jail's rules, the hearing officer would have left the conference room and gone to where the witnesses were located. App. 336 ll. 3 – 24. Had Petitioner been represented, the attorney would have been allowed to go with the hearing officer. Id. However, in Petitioner's case, it was just the hearing officer who went and spoke with the witnesses. Id. Petitioner was not allowed to go and confront or cross-examine either witness. Id.

The State admitted Respondent's Exhibit #1, Cook's script, into evidence at the evidentiary hearing. App. 324 l. 2 – App. 326 l. 5. The script was read to the members of the parole board present for Petitioner's hearing. App. 334 ll. 12 – 16. Cook indicated that the parole board received a packet of information prior to the hearing. App. 334 ll. 17 – 19. The following exchange then took place between PCR counsel and Cook regarding Petitioner's due process rights:

Counsel: Did Mr. Justice get a copy of that packet?

Cook: No.

Counsel: Why not?

Cook: Because he's not an attorney.

App. 334 ll. 22 – 25.

Cook admitted that it was not standard practice to provide a *pro se* individual with this packet that the determining board would rely on to make a decision. App. 335 ll. 1 – 3. In a harrowing acknowledgement, Cook disclosed that Petitioner “was not even allowed to see what the parole board had in front of them.” App. 335 ll. 10 – 12. Worse, Petitioner did not “get to say anything to the parole board to defend himself.” App. 335 ll. 17 – 23.

PCR counsel succinctly summarized in closing remarks the unconstitutional nature of the two parole revocation hearings in Petitioner's case:

Mr. Justice was not allowed to have due process in his parole violation hearing. There were two separate hearings. The original preliminary hearing as well as the second parole hearing. You heard Ms. Cook testify that she did not give - - Mr. Justice did not even have the opportunity to have a copy of any of the paperwork or packet because he did not have an attorney. He was representing himself, Your Honor. We believe he should have been allowed to have a copy of the packet. In addition, there was no finding in any of these records. ... There was no finding anywhere that was determined whether there was any extraordinary circumstances or not and he testified that he did ask for an attorney.

...

He was not allowed to address the parole board. [Cook] indicated he's not allowed to have open dialogue. They may have asked him a couple of questions, however, she remembers them cutting him off and not letting him necessarily speak. So we would say, Your Honor, that he was not given due process in this hearing. He was not allowed to confront the witnesses. They were at the original preliminary hearing and we believe they were at the second hearing also, Your Honor. They spoke to the parole board. So we would ask that you grant the PCR and allow him to have a full parole revocation hearing.

App. 340 l. 3 – App. 341 l. 25.

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