RECEIVED
SEP 28 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001718

WILLIAM BRUCE JUSTICE,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KELLY OPPENHEIMER
S.C. Bar No. 103245
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁶ Condition number nine states: "I shall obey all conditions of supervision set forth in this order including the payment of fines, restitution, or other payments, and the services of any period of incarceration." Supp. App. 36.

⁷ Condition number ten of Petitioner's parole states: "I shall follow the advice and instruction of my Agent and I agree to comply with **any further conditions imposed by the Department or its' Agents.**" Supp. App. 36 (emphasis added).

appeared to be intoxicated. App. 330. She elaborated she could smell alcohol on Petitioner's breath, saw beer cans all over his property, and Petitioner was sweating heavily. App. 330. Because Petitioner did not challenge his revocation with respect to his failure to pay supervision and BORA fees nor his failure to use alcohol to excess and because Petitioner's entire proceeding was not tainted by error, it is immaterial whether or not revocation was proper with respect to his failure to refrain from having contact with Ms. Cotton or her family.

In conclusion, the post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief on grounds he was denied the right to confrontation when (1) Ms. Cotton did not offer evidence to the parole board at the parole revocation hearing when it made the decision to revoke; and (2) he did not specifically request that Ms. Cotton be made available for questioning in his presence. Even if Petitioner were denied due process as to the violation concerning Ms. Cotton, he suffered no prejudice, as he did not challenge his parole revocation with respect to his other violations.

II. Petitioner's arguments that the post-conviction relief court erred in denying relief because Petitioner was treated differently due to his *pro se* status at the parole hearings and was denied his right to disclosure of the evidence against him, the opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and evidence, and the right to a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied upon and reasons for revoking parole, are not preserved for appellate review. Even if these arguments were preserved, they are conclusively refuted by the record, where the factfinder made specific findings as to each parole violation and when Petitioner did not assert his rights at the revocation hearing.

Petitioner contends the post-conviction relief court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where Petitioner was allegedly "denied his right of disclosure of evidence against him, his right of an opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence, and his right of a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relief on and reasons for

revoking parole.” PWC 1. Petitioner also alleges he received disparate treatment based on his *pro se* status at the parole revocation hearings.⁸

None of Petitioner’s arguments are preserved for appellate review, as these arguments were not ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. Pursuant to section 17-27-80 of the South Carolina Code, the post-conviction relief judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). In the present case, the post-conviction relief court did not specifically address whether Petitioner was denied his right of disclosure of the evidence against him, the opportunity to be heard, to present witnesses and evidence on his behalf, and to a written statement by the factfinders. Instead, the ruling by the post-conviction relief court addressed only the alleged denial of the right to confrontation.

In *Marlar v. State*, this Court held the applicant’s failure to file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion asking the post-conviction relief judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as to rejected post-conviction challenges rendered those challenges waived for appellate

⁸ Petitioner also asserts, within his argument, he was denied his right to appointed counsel. Respondent submits this is not properly raised for appellate review. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.”). Even if this issue is properly presented for appellate review, this argument is wholly without merit. There is no “inflexible constitutional rule with respect to the requirement of counsel” for a probationer or parolee. *Gagnon*, 411 U.S. 789-90. Rather, the decision with respect to the need for counsel “must be made on a case-by-case basis in the exercise of a sound discretion by the state authority charged with responsibility for administering the probation and parole system.” *Id.* at 790. There is no Sixth Amendment right to counsel during a parole revocation hearing. *Duckson v. State*, 355 S.C. 596, 586 S.E.2d 576 (2003). Moreover, “the board shall grant hearings and permit arguments and appearances by counsel or any individual before it at any such hearing which considering a case for parole.” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-50. However, this “statutory right to have counsel present is not comparable to a probationer’s absolute right under state law to appointed counsel.” *Turner v. State*, 384 S.C. 451, 455, 682 S.E.2d 792, 794 (2009). Here, Petitioner had no right to court appointed counsel at his parole revocation hearings. Because he had no right to appointed counsel, it cannot be said Petitioner was denied this right.

review, precluding further review on the merits. 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007). Indeed, this Court noted:

Counsel preparing proposed orders should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the attention of the PCR judge prior to issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it. Even after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRPC.

Id. at 410, 653 S.E. 2d at 267. In the current case, to the extent Petitioner believed the post-conviction relief court failed to address some issues he raised, Petitioner failed to make the proper motion under Rule 59.

The current case is similar to *Marlar* because Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e) motion. Petitioner's argument to this Court is the post-conviction relief judge erred in refusing to find Petitioner was denied specific due process rights at his parole revocation hearings. However, the only issue ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court in its Order of Dismissal concerning Petitioner's due process rights was whether Petitioner was denied his right to confront the witnesses against him. App. 360-61. Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the post-conviction relief court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on the current allegations he now raises for appellate review. Therefore, under *Marlar*'s holding, the additional issues now raised are not preserved for appellate review. These issues are not preserved for appellate review.

Even if Petitioner's argument were preserved for appellate review, Petitioner's argument lacks merit. A parolee merely has the right to written notice of the alleged violations of parole, as well as the right of disclosure of the evidence against him. *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 489.

Because a revocation hearing does not seek to establish a parolee or probationer's guilt and because the level of proof required during a revocation hearing is much lower than that during a criminal trial, the extensive requirement of disclosure of favorable evidence to the accused as outlined in *Brady*⁹ does not apply. See *State v. Hill*, 368 S.C. 649, 658, 630 S.E.2d 274, 279 (2006) (declining to extend the *Brady* rule to probation revocation hearings). Similarly, the requirement for the disclosure of evidence in criminal cases under Rule 5, SCRCrimP, "does not apply in probation revocation proceedings because these proceedings are not criminal trials." *Id.* at 659, 630 S.E.2d at 280. The same is true for parole revocation proceedings.

Here, Petitioner was provided a copy of his arrest warrant, as well as a copy of the violation report, which specifically enumerated the violations of Petitioner's parole. App. 263-64; Supp. App. 17-18. Specifically, the arrest warrant alleged:

[Petitioner] failed to follow the advice and instructions of his agent by failing to pay BORA by being \$15 in arrears at issuance of process and \$50 in arrears on supervision fees; failed to refrain from contacting Leigh Cotton and her family as instructed by agent on Monday, August 5, 2013; failed to refrain from drinking alcohol to excess. According to incident report 2013-3696 with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office, [Petitioner] assault[ed] two victims of Ms. Cotton's family by striking victim #1 with a metal pipe across her stomach and victim #2 with a closed fist.

App. 263. Clearly, Petitioner was provided notice of the violations prior to his parole revocation hearings. Furthermore, because the revocation hearing does not seek to determine Petitioner's guilt and because the level of proof required for a revocation hearing is much lower than the standard in criminal trials, Petitioner had no right to disclosure of exculpatory or impeaching evidence under *Brady* or Rule 5.

⁹ *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

Petitioner's argument he was not afforded his right to be heard nor to present witnesses or evidence on his behalf is conclusively refuted by the record. Petitioner was given ample opportunity to explain his version of events to the parole board. *See* Audio of Parole Revocation Hearing 2:45-5:02. He was able to explain to the parole board that Ms. Cotton's son and daughter-in-law came to his house and "jumped him"¹⁰. Audio of Parole Revocation Hearing 3:45-3:59. He also admitted striking Ms. Cotton's son but denied hitting anyone with a metal pipe. Audio of Parole Revocation Hearing 4:54-5:02. Petitioner also explained he did not want to file charges against Ms. Cotton's son. Audio of Parole Revocation Hearing 4:25-4:34. Clearly, Petitioner was able to address the parole board at his final revocation hearing. Furthermore, Petitioner wholly failed to explain at the post-conviction relief hearing what witnesses or evidence he would have presented at the revocation hearings that he was unable to present. Accordingly, Petitioner was neither denied his right to be heard nor denied his right to present witnesses and evidence on his behalf.

Petitioner's allegation he was denied his right to a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied on and the reasons for revoking parole is also conclusively refuted by the record. Following the preliminary hearing, the administrative hearings officer issued a detailed summary of the hearing, articulating his findings and recommending Petitioner's parole be revoked. *See* Supp. App. 22-24. Specifically, the hearing officer found Petitioner had used alcoholic beverages to excess, relying on the testimony and observations of Agent Cook. Supp. App. 22. The hearing officer further found Petitioner had willfully failed to pay BORA and

¹⁰ At the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified similarly—that Ms. Cotton's son came on his property and "jumped him." App. 312. He elaborated Ms. Cotton's son, however, "didn't win." App. 312. Petitioner also admitted to responding to Ms. Cotton's text message, even though he was aware he was supposed to have no contact with Ms. Cotton or her family. App. 310, 311-12.

supervision fees, again relying on the testimony of Agent Cook. Supp. App. 23. The hearing officer also found Petitioner had failed to follow the advice and instructions of the parole agent. Supp. App. 23. In finding Petitioner had repeatedly contacted Ms. Cotton and her family despite explicit instructions not to, the hearing officer relied on the statements of both Agent Cook and Ms. Cotton. Supp. App. 23. He also relied on text messages and voicemail messages from Petitioner to Ms. Cotton or her son. Supp. App. 23. The hearing officer gave a detailed account of his findings; therefore, Petitioner was not denied his right to a written statement of the findings from his preliminary hearing.

Similarly, the parole board issued an order revoking Petitioner's parole and explaining the violations. Supp. App. 16, 25. In this order, the parole board found Petitioner had "violated one or more of the conditions of supervision as set forth in the affidavit herein and dated a copy of which is incorporated by reference." Supp. App. 16, 25. In adopting the affidavit from the arrest warrant, the parole board explicitly found Petitioner had:

[F]ailed to follow the advice and instructions of his agent by failing to pay BORA by being \$15 in arrears at issuance of process and \$50 in arrears on supervision fees; failed to refrain from contacting Leigh Cotton and her family as instructed by agent on Monday, August 5, 2013; failed to refrain from drinking alcohol in excess. According to incident report 2013-3696 with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office, [Petitioner] assault[ed] two victims of Ms. Cotton's family by striking victim #1 with a metal pipe across her stomach and victim #2 with a closed fist.

Supp. App. 19, 28. Again, Petitioner was provided with a detailed written statement of the findings of the parole board and was not denied this right.

No part of this argument is preserved for appellate review, as it was never ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. Even if this argument were preserved, Petitioner was not denied

his rights at the parole revocation hearings, as he was given ample opportunity to explain his version of events to the parole board, failed to identify any witnesses or evidence which he desired to present at the hearings, and was provided detailed findings from both the administrative hearing officer and the parole board. Also, Petitioner made no showing as to how his *pro se* status worked to his disadvantage during the proceedings.

III. Petitioner's argument that South Carolina's statute restricting an inmate's right to confront the witnesses against him at a parole revocation hearing is unconstitutional is not preserved for appellate review. Even if this argument were preserved, the statute is not unconstitutional, where it is the State's responsibility to write a code of procedure for parole revocation proceedings as long as it meets the minimum requirements of due process, and where the right to confrontation may be denied by the State for good cause.

Petitioner finally contends section 24-21-50 of the South Carolina Code is unconstitutional because the statute prohibits an inmate from confronting witnesses at a parole hearing. However, it is the State's responsibility to write a code of procedure for parole revocation proceedings, so long as it meets the minimum requirements of due process.

Petitioner's argument is not preserved for appellate review, as Petitioner never raised this argument in the lower court nor was it ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. Pursuant to section 17-27-80 of the South Carolina Code, the post-conviction relief judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). Moreover, "a constitutional claim must be raised and ruled upon to be preserved for appellate review." *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (citing *Hoffman v. Powell*, 298 S.C. 338, 380 S.E.2d 821 (1989)). In the present case, the post-conviction relief court did not specifically

address whether section 24-21-50 is unconstitutional. Indeed, Petitioner never raised this argument to the post-conviction relief court. Thus, it was neither raised to nor ruled upon.

As aforementioned, Petitioner did not make the proper motion under *Marlar*. Petitioner's argument to this Court is the statute prohibiting inmates from confronting witnesses at a parole revocation hearing is unconstitutional. Neither Petitioner nor the post-conviction relief court addressed the constitutionality of this statute. *See* App. 350-62. Therefore, under *Marlar*'s holding, the current issue now raised is not preserved for appellate review.

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